RECEIVED

Feb 16 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the South Carolina Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Judge

Case No. 2017-ALJ-17-0418-CC
Appellate Case No. 2020-000999

Synovus Bank,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Ashley P. Cuttino
Lewis T. Smoak
Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak &
Stewart, P.C.
300 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-1300
ashley.cuttino@ogletree.com
lewis.smoak@ogletree.com

Burnet R. Maybank, III
Nexsen Pruet
Post Office Box 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This litigation involves a question of whether or not a bank may take a net operating loss (NOL) carryforward deduction under the South Carolina bank tax. To decide this question, the history of the South Carolina bank tax must be evaluated to determine if the bank tax is based on taxable income or financial income. The difference is significant. If based on taxable income, the bank tax follows corporate income tax rules. Synovus argues that both legislative history and the 2005 conformity legislation make clear an NOL carryforward is allowed thereunder. The South Carolina Department of Revenue argues the bank tax is a franchise tax and is based on financial or “book income.” As a result, an NOL carryforward is not allowed, and the bank tax is limited to the “net income” for one year per the income statement found in the annual financial statements of the bank. Synovus’ position on book income is threefold: (1) Synovus asserts “book income” is the wrong tax basis for the bank tax. Using book income as a tax basis creates multiple constitutional issues. (2) If “book income” is the appropriate tax basis for the bank tax, an NOL deduction is still appropriate pursuant to the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), the application of conformity (and the NOL deduction) to book income and based on the definition of “*entire* net income” (as espoused by the ALC). (3) As shown in prior Department determinations, conformity to the corporate income tax code and IRC have previously been applied to the bank tax, even under a book income analysis. “Book income” means that a bank may deduct *all* of its expenses from *all* of its revenues to calculate “entire net income.” (R. p. 943; R. p. 11.) For a publicly traded bank to deduct “all of its expenses” and still comport with required accounting principles, the NOL carryforward must be allowed.

Synovus will show that the ALC repeatedly erred in its determinations in the Amended Final Order. The errors of the ALC result from the ALC’s use of the wrong statutory construction standard and by giving deference to the Department. The ALC also erred in its conclusion that

“entire net income” does not allow for an NOL carryforward deduction and that book income and/or GAAP are an appropriate proxy for “entire net income.” Further, Synovus will show that the ALC repeatedly contradicted its own findings of fact in reaching its ultimate conclusion that the NOL carryforward deduction is not allowed, which was in error.

1. The Parties

A. Synovus Bank

On February 28, 1995, Synovus Financial Corp. acquired NBSC Corporation, the parent company of National Bank of South Carolina (NBSC). (R. p. 416 ¶ 10). Subsequently, on May 6, 2010, NBSC was merged into Columbus Bank & Trust Company and was renamed Synovus Bank (Synovus). (*Id.* ¶ 6.) Each entity is (or was) organized as a corporation. (*Id.* ¶ 12). All operated as a bank in South Carolina during the relevant time period.

B. Department of Revenue

Respondent is the Department of Revenue (Department). The Department is the state agency tasked with the collection of tax revenue in South Carolina.

2. Procedural History

The Department denied Synovus, and all banks in South Carolina, the use of an NOL carryforward by concluding financial income, not taxable income, is the basis for the bank tax. Synovus filed a timely appeal of the Department’s determination to the Administrative Law Court (ALC). The ALC initially determined on motions for summary judgement that the bank tax was based on financial income and, therefore, tax conformity to the federal tax code does not apply to the South Carolina bank tax. The ALC then held a one-day trial to determine if a bank in South Carolina is allowed an NOL carryforward deduction under a financial accounting basis and if

GAAP is an appropriate proxy for “entire next income.” This appeal stems from the ALC’s final, combined order on both issues.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of an administrative law judge’s order is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–610(B) (2008), which provides:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Appellant Synovus asserts errors of law and violations of constitutional and statutory provisions result from the Amended Final Order of the ALC.

FACTS

1. Synovus’ Tax Filing History

As a result of the economic downturn suffered by many banks during the relevant time period, Synovus incurred NOLs. Synovus timely filed returns with the Department for tax years 2011, 2012, 2013, and 2014. (R. p. 416 ¶ 13). For each of those tax years, Synovus subsequently filed an amended tax return and claimed a portion of the NOLs on its state tax returns. (R. pp. 416-418 ¶¶ 13-22). The amended returns included NOL carryforward deductions producing tax

refund claims for 2011, 2012, and 2013. (R. pp. 417-418 ¶¶ 16-18, 20, 23-25). Synovus also filed a 2014 tax return that claimed NOL carryforwards. (*Id.* ¶¶ 22, 25). Each amended tax return on which a refund was requested was filed based on book income as instructed by the Department. The NOL carryforward deduction was applied to the book income calculation for each year. (R. pp. 422 ¶¶ 7-13).

For tax years 2012, 2013 and 2014, the Department granted the refunds. However, the Department paid to Synovus the requested refund amounts for only 2013 and 2014, not for 2012. As to 2012, even though the refund was approved, it was not paid due to a procedural problem requiring the 2012 refund amount be “held for verification.” (R. pp. 418 ¶¶ 23-25).

Despite initially approving the refunds, the Department made a subsequent decision to audit the tax years 2012, 2013, and 2014. During the audit, the Department concluded NOL carryforwards are not allowed in computing a bank’s tax liability. Following the audit, the Department reversed its prior decision approving the refunds. (R. p. 418 ¶ 26). The Department then issued a Determination, with which Synovus disagreed. Synovus timely filed an appeal to the ALC. (*Id.* ¶ 27). This appeal stems from the ALC’s final, combined order.

2. Legislative and Other History of the South Carolina Bank and Income Tax

South Carolina’s first tax laws were based on conformity with the federal tax code. (R. pp. 679-680). The term “entire net income” was used as the tax basis in the federal tax code as early as the 1918 Revenue Act. In 1918, the term “entire net income” included all expenses and deductions taken from year to year until “the entire net income ha[d] been accounted for.” (*See* R. p. 32 (quoting Revenue Act of 1918)). (R. p. 679). In 1926, the South Carolina General Assembly passed its first substantive state income tax. The 1926 tax applied to both banks and corporations.

The 1926 statute defined the type of income to be taxed as “entire net income.” S.C. Code Ann. § 2451 (1932).

In 1937, the General Assembly, for the first time, passed a tax specific to banks (the “bank tax”). The base upon which the bank tax was imposed in 1937 was identical to the then-existing corporate income tax in 1937: “entire net income.” 1937 S.C. Acts § 563(2).

The term “entire net income” as used in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-20, the bank tax section, has not changed since 1937. The bank tax has always been described by the statutes as an “income tax.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. §12-11-10 *et al.* In taxing “entire net income” of banks, from a legislative perspective, neither the 1937 bank tax nor any subsequent bank tax section has ever defined “entire net income.” Further, from an administrative perspective, the ALC factually found “the Department has no formal ruling or publication interpreting the meaning or calculation of ‘entire net income’” in regards to the bank tax, despite the Department’s arguments to the contrary. (R. p. 30).

3. Definition of Net Operating Loss

As stated in 539-3rd TMP, Net Operating Losses:

Under § 172, a net operating loss (also known as an NOL) incurred by a taxpayer in a taxable year can be carried back and deducted from the taxable income of specified preceding taxable years and carried forward and deducted from the taxable income of specified succeeding taxable years. The net operating loss deduction responds to a potential unfairness resulting from the fact that the income tax is computed based on an annual accounting period. Under this system, businesses with steady income that consistently exceeds their expenses are able fully to utilize all their deductions. In contrast, without the ability to deduct net operating losses, businesses with fluctuating incomes would lose the benefit of their deductions in taxable years in which expenses exceeded income. A business with alternating profits and losses would pay higher taxes over a period of years than a business with stable profits, even though the average incomes of the two businesses were equivalent.

The net operating loss deduction minimizes the disparity that would otherwise result between the tax treatment of businesses with relatively constant income and businesses with fluctuating income. As stated by the U.S. Supreme Court:

[The net operating loss rules] were enacted to ameliorate the unduly drastic consequences of taxing income strictly on an annual basis. They were designed to permit a taxpayer to set off its lean years against its lush years, and to strike something like an average taxable income computed over a period longer than one year.

See Tax Mgmt. (BNA) (Series 539-3rd, Net Operating Losses); (*see also* R. pp. 187-188).

4. History of the Net Operating Loss Deduction in South Carolina

In 1955, South Carolina amended the income tax code to include a specific NOL carryforward provision. This NOL provision allowed a deduction for taxpayers that “established a new business or industry” in the state during the tax year. *See* 1955 (49) 437, § 6 (adding S.C. Code Ann. § 65-259(13)). In 1979, the Legislature extended the NOL deduction to include “all taxpayers.” *See* 1976 S.C. Code Ann. § 12-7-700(12A) (Supp. 1979) (providing that the state’s NOL deduction “shall be allowed to all taxpayers”).

In 1985, the General Assembly repealed the standalone South Carolina NOL section when it adopted conformity to the federal tax code, instead relying on IRC § 172 for the allowance of an NOL carryforward. Following initial conformity with the IRC in 1985, in 1988, the existing bank tax regulations were repealed as unnecessary. In 2005, the General Assembly again passed conformity that adopted the entire IRC. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-40. In 2005, the General Assembly took affirmative action to modify the prior language used in the Decoupling Statute. The Decoupling Statute was clarified to resolve any ambiguity as to the application of conformity to the bank tax. Post 2005, the conformity language was altered to: “this *title* and *all other titles* that provide for taxes administered by the department.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-50 (emphasis added). This “Title” is, of course, Title 12, which contains the bank tax.

ARGUMENTS

The ultimate issue stated and addressed by the ALC is “[w]hether a bank can deduct net operating loss carryforwards when calculating its South Carolina bank tax liability.” (R. p. 13). However, to ensure the proper context for addressing the issue, the ALC more granularly framed the issue by addressing three questions:

- a) Does the term “entire net income” inherently authorize NOL carryforward deductions?
- b) Is “book income” a reasonable proxy for “entire net income”?
- c) Is it reasonable for the Department to rely on the GAAP definition of “book income”?

In reaching the conclusion to each of these questions, the ALC erred as shown below.

1. The ALC Erred in Its Determination that the Term “Entire Net Income” Does Not Inherently Authorize an NOL Carryforward.

A. The ALC Used the Wrong Construction in Reaching the Conclusion as to This Issue

Before the ALC could determine if an NOL carryforward deduction applied, it first had to determine what is the basis of the bank tax – financial or taxable income. Only after the basis for the bank tax is determined did the ALC need to conclude if a deduction is allowed. The ALC erred in taking these two separate questions as one issue and applied the wrong construction analysis as a result. (R. p. 15).

To answer the first question, what is the tax basis of the bank tax, the ALC should have applied the settled rule that ambiguities are resolved “against the government and in favor of the taxpayer.” *See Hadden v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 183 S.C. 38, 46-47, 190 S.E. 249, 251 (1937) (noting that “where a tax statute is ambiguous or is reasonably susceptible of an interpretation that would exclude the person or subject sought to be taxed, any substantial doubt must be resolved against the government in favor of the taxpayer”); *see also Clark v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 259 S.C. 161, 169,

191 S.E.2d 23, 26 (1972) (“Revenue laws are generally construed in favor of the taxpayer and against the taxing authority.”); Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 66:1 (6th ed.). See also *SCANA Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 384 S.C. 388, 394 n.3, 683 S.E.2d 468, 471 (2009) (Beatty, J., dissenting) (noting general rule that where substantial doubt exists as to the construction of tax statutes, the doubt must be resolved against the government).

Here, the ALC should have applied a construction analysis in favor of Synovus as to Question 1 – What is the basis of the bank tax? The ALC determined the Department has no formal rule or publication interpreting “entire net income.” (R. p. 30 (stating “[the Department’s] current interpretation is nascent”)). Also, the Department failed to show a lack of ambiguity in the bank tax statute, which contains an admitted undefined term “entire net income.” Thus, as a rule of construction, the ALC should have given all doubts on interpretation to Synovus. Instead, the ALC construed liberally in favor of the Department. Doing so was improper.

Further, the inherent unfairness of the liberal construction in favor of the Department is more impactful based on the equitable nature of the ultimate issue in the case. The ALC acknowledged “the principle behind NOL carryforwards [is] an equitable – redistribution [of] a loss over a number of years.” (R. p. 15). The ALC further acknowledged the significance of the inequity that occurs if a bank is not allowed to take an NOL carryforward. This issue is caused by the Department’s position that the term “entire net income” only refers to the income, and thus expenses, that occur within one year. The ALC acknowledged the equitable problem and the “weakness” in the Department’s interpretation.

The income statement would obviously cover one year because the tax laws specifically set the parameters under which the banks are taxed. And, it is obvious that income is routinely taxed in the year that it occurs. In other words, generally in every year that income exceeds expenses, the bank is taxed for that income. Nevertheless, there is a notable distinction between income and expenses. If

excess expenses are not carryforward to future tax years, they will be lost. *This is an obvious inequity.*

(R. p. 37 (emphasis added)). Questions of equity, which lie at the heart of the tax carryover concept, should be construed in favor of the taxpayer. *Fieldcrest Mills, Inc. v. Coble*, 290 N.C. 586, 590-91, 227 S.E.2d 562, 565 (1976) (quoting Columbia Law Review, “the fundamental proposition underlying the carryover concept is one of tax equity. Comment, 66 Colum. L. Rev. at 339); *Hosp. Tr. Leasing Corp. v. Norberg*, 491 A.2d 982, 987 (R.I. 1985) (stating that failing to apply NOL would be “completely inimical to the equitable goals of income averaging”); *United States v. Foster Lumber Co.*, 429 U.S. 32, 52 (1976) (concluding that an NOL effectuates fairness). Given the equitable and remedial nature of carryover statutes, the issue of NOL carryforwards should be liberally construed in favor of the taxpayer. *Lewyt Corp. v. C.I.R.*, 349 U.S. 237, 240 (1955) (“[W]here the benefit claimed by the taxpayer is fairly within the statutory language and the construction sought is in harmony with the statute as an organic whole, the benefits will not be withheld from the taxpayer[.]”); *United States v. Foster Lumber Co.*, 429 U.S. 32, 52 (1976) (where the aims of justice and equity can be achieved by furthering a tax carryover scheme, the Court should be apt to do so).

Therefore, a determination of the tax base for the bank tax, and the meaning of “entire net income,” must be construed in favor of the taxpayer. Once determined, then, and only then, does the issue of the application of an NOL carryforward deduction come into play. The ALC erred by applying a construction standard in favor of the Department related to both questions. As such, the decision of the ALC must be reversed and determined under the appropriate standard of construction.

B. A Determination that the Meaning of “Entire Net Income” is Based on Taxable Income and Conformity Applies to the Bank Tax Decides this Controversy

The Department asserts the term “entire net income” does not inherently authorize NOL carryforward deductions. The Department reaches that conclusion by asserting the bank tax is based on financial accounting. Synovus asserts the term “entire net income” inherently provides for an NOL carryforward. Synovus reaches this conclusion because i) the bank tax is based on taxable income (like the corporate tax), ii) conformity with the IRC applies, and iii) the bank tax is based on the definition and use of the word “entire” by the General Assembly. As the discussion that follows shows, the ALC erred in denying the NOL deduction by determining the basis of the bank tax is financial accounting a/k/a “book income” rather than taxable income, conformity does not apply, and the term “entire” does not mean “all expenses” can be taken as part of “entire net income.”

The authority for the NOL deduction flows logically from the General Assembly’s use of “entire net income” as an income tax concept; it is not now, and has never been, a concept producing financial accounting or “book income.” If “entire net income” is based on taxable income, conformity to the IRC provides an undisputable application of an NOL carryforward deduction through the General Assembly’s adoption of 26 U.S.C. §172. As shown below, the General Assembly has never given any indication that the basis of the bank tax is financial accounting a/k/a book income.

Three basic steps used by the ALC in its analysis show the error of interpretation the ALC made in finding the meaning of “entire net income” for banks.

The ALC decision first concludes:

[A]lthough taxable income for the purposes of the bank tax is based on “entire net income,” there is no definition or reference to what is gross income or what deductions are authorized[.]

(R. p. 40).

Second, to find the missing definitions of gross income and deductions, the decision holds:

The term “entire net income” reflects a breadth of income and expenses that requires **all revenues** and **all expenses** be included in the calculation of a bank’s taxable income.

(R. p. 42 (emphasis in original)).

Third, and finally, in deciding how to determine “all revenues” and “all expenses,” the decision holds “entire net income” means “book income” and decides:

[B]ecause [Synovus] keeps its books according to GAAP, [Synovus’] “book income” is equivalent to its “net income” as calculated pursuant to GAAP.

(R. p. 43).

The final findings and conclusion profoundly misinterpret “entire net income” as being “book income” under GAAP. The ALC also erred in the application of its own ruling: on the one hand, holding “entire net income *requires* all revenue and expenses be included in the calculation of a bank’s taxable income” and then denying the only method to do so – an NOL carryforward. (R. pp. 11, 13; R. pp. 195-201). Thus, the ALC erred in its denial of the deductions claimed by Synovus.

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