RECEIVED

Jan 15 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the South Carolina Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Judge

Case No. 2017-ALJ-17-0418-CC
Appellate Case No. 2020-000999

Synovus Bank,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Ashley P. Cuttino
Lewis T. Smoak
Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak &
Stewart, P.C.
300 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-1300
ashley.cuttino@ogletree.com
lewis.smoak@ogletree.com

Burnet R. Maybank, III
Nexsen Pruet
Post Office Box 2426

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

To counter the above, the Department makes a puzzling and difficult-to-follow argument asserting the existence of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-7-230 “reveals a fatal weakness” in Synovus’ NOL position. *See* Resp’t Bri. at 18-19. In its argument, the Department agrees § 12-7-230 imposes an “income tax on the ‘entire net income’ of the corporation as determined by the chapter.” Then, focusing on § 12-7-230’s “as determined by the chapter” language, the Department says § 12-7-235 is the “next provision in the chapter” and that section “identified banks as ‘exempt from the tax imposed on entire net income by Section 12-7-230.’” Apparently the Department believes that exempting banks from the corporate income tax rate through § 12-7-235(a)(1) disqualifies

¹⁸ While we know the Court decides disputes based only on the facts and the law, we feel compelled to urge the Court not to be fooled by the Department’s inflammatory rhetoric asserting Synovus “ignores legislative history and conflates terms and concepts.” Resp’t Bri. at 17. We believe we have heeded, not ignored, legislative history; we believe we have explained, not conflated, terms and concepts.

Synovus from an NOL deduction when computing “entire net income” for the bank tax. Nothing could be more of a misreading.

What happens to the bank tax computation when the bank tax computation of “entire net income” encounters the corporate income tax exemption of banks in § 12-7-235(a)(1)? Nothing. Section 12-7-235(a)(1) simply says the bank is not subject to the *corporate income tax rate*. That is it. There is no impact to the bank tax. After all, § 12-7-230 imposes *a corporate tax* by stating “[e]very corporation . . . shall pay annually an income tax” and § 12-7-235(a)(1) exempts banks “*from the tax imposed by Section 12-7-230.*” Obviously, the bank tax is imposed by § 12-11-20, not § 12-7-230. Thus, when the bank computes “entire net income” as required by § 12-11-20 and reaches the exemption of § 12-7-235, § 12-7-235 exempts banks from the corporate tax rate with no impact on the bank tax computation of “entire net income” including applicable deductions. To read the statute as suggested by the Department would exempt banks from both the corporate tax and the bank tax. The General Assembly intended no such result.

b. The 1995 Recodification of the Income Tax Laws

In 1995, by Act 76, the General Assembly recodified the income tax laws of Title 12 by moving the income statutes from Chapter 7 to a new location in Chapter 6. In the recodification, former § 12-7-230 (the “entire net income” statute for corporate tax) became § 12-6-530.

As to the 1995 recodification, the Department tells the Court it has “never argued that any amendments in 1995 meaningfully changed the income tax provisions.” Resp’t Bri. at 18, n. 8. Thus, believing in and relying upon the Department as meaning what it states, the Department is not arguing to the Court that Act 76 of 1995 changed the tax base of the corporate income tax. But, while the Department makes no such argument, the ALC does:

[A]lthough banks are corporations, they are expressly excluded from the corporate income tax under Chapter 6. This is an important distinction because *corporations*

Taxed under section 12-6-530 use “taxable income” as their tax base, and the calculation of “taxable income” comprises the NOL carryforward deduction.

Am. Final Order at 19 (Emphasis added.)

Since pages 24 – 27 of our Initial Brief address the ALC’s error, we submit here only two observations. First, both parties agree and are telling the Court no change in the tax base of “entire net income” resulted from Act 76 of 1995. Second, as to the ALC’s error that Act 76 of 1995 changed the corporate tax base, such a holding is an unfounded, extraordinary conclusion given that Act 76 is a mere recodification. *See e.g. Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 574, 583, 514 S.E.2d 593, 597 n.1 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Subsequently, section 72-305 was recodified as . . . S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 (1976) [but t]his recodification did not, however, alter the original statutory language.”).

3. The Department Is Incorrect in Asserting the Conformity and Decoupling Provisions in Title 12, Chapter 6 Do Not Apply to Title 12, Chapter 11

Synovus has fully briefed its position on this point in its Initial Brief. *See Generally* Appellant’s Bri. 23, 31. The Legislature affirmatively stated in 2005 that conformity and the decoupling provision apply to *all* portions of Title 12. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-50. The bank tax is part of Title 12 and was intended by the Legislature to be included in conformity. The interpretation put forth by Synovus is both historically consistent with the statutes and consistent with the adoption of the income tax into the bank tax pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-40.

4. The Department Is Incorrect When It Denies Chapter 11’s Reliance on Chapter 6 for Administration and Enforcement Supports Granting Banks NOL Deductions

As stated above, and admitted by the Department, the bank tax mandates reliance on the income tax portion of the tax code for the bank tax. Resp’t Bri. at 22. The question becomes is the reliance by the bank tax on the income tax “limited” as argued by the Department and ALC? The

answer is no. *See Supra* at 10. At all times since the inception of the bank tax, the income tax chapter has been adopted and made part of the bank tax, including the definition of “entire net income, calculation of “entire net income,” and deductions.

C. The Department and the ALC Are Wrong in Framing the Disputed Issue as a Tax Deduction Dispute

The Respondent Brief (pp. 25-26) mischaracterizes the required statutory construction analysis. The Department views the disputed issue as requiring a narrow construction of statutes granting deductions. Synovus disagrees. The dispute is a tax imposition dispute.

The Court must decide whether the ambiguous imposition statute of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-20 requires Synovus pay tax on “book income” governed by rules and policies dictated and *limited* by the GAAP definition of “net income” from the financial income statement or pay tax on “entire net income” governed by the income tax statutes established by the General Assembly and adopted into the bank tax per their explicit instruction. Deciding which imposition process applies requires construing the statute in favor of the taxpayer. *Ryder Truck Lines, Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Commission*, 248 S.C. 148, 149 S.E.2d 435 (1966) (“a taxing statute must be construed most favorably to the taxpayer, and . . . any doubt should be resolved against the taxing authority.”); *Alltel Commc'ns, Inc. v. S. Carolina Dep't of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 315 (S.C. 2012) (“[I]f the statute were ambiguous, Petitioners would prevail under the rule that an ambiguity in a taxing statute must be construed in favor of the taxpayer.”). Here, construing the imposition statute in Synovus’ favor imposes a bank tax on “entire net income” as defined by the General Assembly using the income tax statutes.

When such is done, no ambiguity exists regarding Synovus’ ability to obtain an NOL deduction. *See* IRC § 172; S.C. Code Ann. § 12-6-1130(4) (“[a] net operating loss deduction is computed in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code.”). Thus, the statutory ability to obtain

an NOL carryforward deduction has no ambiguity. The only statutory dispute with ambiguity is the imposition statute of § 12-11-20. As to that statute, the construction should be in favor of the taxpayer, Synovus.

III. The ALC Wrongly Concluded “Entire Net Income” is Computed as Book Income Under GAAP.

The ALC and Department are incorrect in their assertion that the calculation of “entire net income” is to be restricted to the “net income” of a bank as determined and limited by the GAAP financial income statement.

A. The Department’s Use of Book Income as the Base for Entire Net Income Is Inconsistent with the Bank Tax Statute.

First, the term “entire net income” does not appear in financial accounting. Am. Final Order at 6. Only the term “net income” is used in financial accounting. The “net income” found on an income statement is calculated and defined based on GAAP principals. While “net income” under GAAP is accurate pursuant to financial rules, this number is limited and does not include losses (deductions) that are located on the balance sheet for financial accounting purposes. There are four documents that make up a company’s financial accounting picture. Hr’g Tr. at 174-175. The income statement is only one of those four documents. To have a true and accurate accounting of a company’s financial position all four must be accounted for simultaneously. *Id.*; Am. Final Order at 5.

The Legislature always intended taxable “net income” to be calculated in conjunction with financial principles.¹⁹ After all, there must be some rhyme or reason to the math applied. The

¹⁹ The ALC incorrectly interpreted Accounting Research Bulletin, No. 23 to mean in 1944 an NOL was not shown on the income statement. Am. Final Order at 4. The Research Bulletin, in fact, plainly states the opposite. In 1944, taxes based on income were to be computed and shown on the income statement without the benefit of the carry-forward. The carry-forward was also to be “shown in the income statement as a separate item.” In other words, both the income tax and NOL were included on the income statement, but the NOL was to be shown as a separate line item to

Legislature has always stated “net income” was to be calculated in accordance with the method of accounting regularly employed.” 1927 S.C. Acts No. 1, § 9. At no point in time has this definition ever interpreted as meaning “book income” or the GAAP income statement for the corporate taxpayer. The Department and ALC incorrectly interpret this statute to be a limiting statute for *only* the bank tax. There is no statutory basis on which the Department can rely any such limitation. In fact, the Department admits its position is based only on a “**presumption.**” Resp’t Bri. at 31. The part of the equation the Department ignores is the definition of “net income” in the statutes and its inclusion of *all deductions* available. 1927 S.C. Acts No. 1, § 7. GAAP itself acknowledges this is the normal process. Through ASC 740, GAAP provides the accounting method to apply a loss to net income through a deduction, including an NOL deduction.²⁰ In accordance with GAAP and ASC 740, the GAAP “net income” is calculated on the income sheet and then the loss/deduction is applied from the balance sheet to reach the total taxable income or “entire net income.” Hr’g Tr. at 82-88.

The Department and ALC incorrectly determine it is appropriate to limit “net income” only to the GAAP definition and calculation of the term found on the income statement – which ignores

not cause confusion. Showing both numbers on income tax expense gave the reader of the income statement a better understanding of the financial health of the company. *See* Pet’r’s Suppl. Bri., Ex H at 185. Since that time, the accounting profession has changed how an NOL is calculated. Today, accountants instruct that the calculation for an NOL deduction occur after the net operating figure on the income statement is calculated through ASC 740. The NOL, which is a deferred tax asset, is now shown as a footnote on the income statement. Hr’g Tr. at 168. ASC 740 alone has changed over fifty times since its inception. Hr’g Tr. at 75. According to the Department’s argument, the “entire net income” of a bank is limited to the income statement. The problem, again, is that when the bank tax was originally passed, the NOL would have been located on the income statement as a line item. It is the changes in accounting, none of which have been approved or affirmed by the Legislature, which now result in the NOL now residing on the balance sheet with relegation to a footnote on the income statement.

²⁰ ASC 740 makes clear it applies to any income tax whether not the income tax is called a franchise tax. Hr’g Tr. at 82.

the balance sheet and loss/deductions contained thereon. This incorrect determination ignores that “entire net income” has, since 1926, been defined and calculated as “net income *minus* deductions,” not net income *without* deduction.²¹ It also provides no method for a bank to account for *all* income and *all* expenses. Appellant’s Bri. at 11. Synovus asserts the order of the ALC ignores the statutory history, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-11-40 and the adoption of conformity to *all* of Title 12, including the application of an NOL deduction pursuant to IRC § 172 and S.C. Code Ann. § 12-7-430(d)(2).

B. Banking Industry and Tax Professionals Viewing the Tax Base for Banks as Book Income Cannot Be Allowed to Contravene the Taxing Statutes

There is no statute, regulation or other written guidance that instructs a bank taxpayer to ignore current and historical statutory guidance and apply only the limited GAAP definition of “net income” from the income statement to its calculation of “entire net income” under the bank tax. If one does not look to the income tax code for the definition and calculation metric of “entire net income,” the tax basis has no meaning. Instead, banks in South Carolina are left to their own devices and to the devices of accountants to apply and interpret ever changing accounting principles to determine how bank taxes are to be calculated in South Carolina. The Department admits such is true in its introduction when the Department states:

The experts for both parties agree that the long-held understanding and practice of South Carolina tax accountants is that the bank tax is based on book income.

Resp’t Bri. at 2.

While at first blush this statement may appear to support the position of the Department, it underscores the problem at the core of the Department’s position in this litigation. Accountants

²¹ By definition, GAAP earnings cannot capture all income and expense of a taxpayer if limited to the income statement. Accounting standards allow taxpayers to charge excess expense items to their balance sheet. Hr’g Tr. at 82-88.

and the principles of accounting—not the Legislature—have been improperly allowed by the Department to define the substantive aspects of the bank tax. The record shows the Department does not even bother to review changes in GAAP reporting or evaluate the potential implications on bank taxation. The Department also does nothing to take the GAAP changes and provide additional definition. Hr’g Tr. at 41. This is a critical factor as GAAP provides accounting principles, not accounting rules. Having a third party, accountants and the authors of GAAP, define the confines of the bank tax basis in this manner is unconstitutional. Appellant’s Bri. at 38-41. The Legislature in 1937 intended no such result and it is not the intent of the Legislature today.

IV. No Deference Should Be Afforded to the Department’s Interpretation of the Bank Tax

As initially briefed, in Appellant’s Initial Brief (pages 32-38), deference to the Department is not warranted in this instance. The Department has made no substantive pronouncements on the bank tax.²² Now, the Department wishes to rely on the methods used by accountants versus regulations that it failed to pass. The Department had eighty plus years to provide clear guidance on the bank tax. It failed to do so. As such, no deference to the Department in this litigation should be given.

V. Challenges of Due Process and Equal Protection Are Preserved for Review

Synovus has not waived any challenge to equal protection or due process in this matter. Neither argument has been raised for the first time on appeal and both issues were raised in the motion for reconsideration. *State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines*, 338 S.C. 176, 525

²² At most, the Department relies on the bank tax form to assert that it has never allowed an NOL deduction. Even this argument, when analyzed, is convoluted and not as straightforward as the Department would like the Court to believe. The South Carolina bank return, for the years at issue, contains a computation which reconciles from US Form 1120 for taxable income to the bank taxable income. *Supra* n. 4, Ex. 45. The form begins with taxable income. If the bank tax was not based on taxable income, the Department would have simply stated use “GAAP earnings as reported on financial statements” and ignored references to federal taxable income.

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